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DECISION
Statement of the Case
WILLIAM NELSON CATES, Administrative Law Judge. This case was tried
before me on December 16, 2013, in Los Angeles, California. Charging Party Papke filed the
charge initiating this matter on June 13, 2013, and the General Counsel issued a complaint and
notice of hearing (complaint) on August 30, 2013. The Government alleges the Company,
since on or about December 14, 2012, has maintained an Employee Acknowledgement and
Agreement (Agreement) which contains provisions that require employees to utilize binding
arbitration to resolve all disputes that may arise out of or be related to their employment. It is
also alleged the Company, on or about October 25, 2011, required Charging Party Papke to
sign the Agreement as a condition of his employment. It is further alleged that on or about
June 11, 2013, the Company has sought to enforce the Agreement by filing a Motion to
Compel Arbitration on an Individual Basis in a class action complaint filed against the
Company by Charging Party Papke in Erik Papke v. Network Capital Funding Corp., Case No.
1
2
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I shall refer to the Charging Party as Charging Party Papke or Papke and counsel for the Charging Party
as Counsel for Papke or Counsel for Charging Party Papke.
I shall refer to counsel for the General Counsel as Counsel for the Government and the General Counsel
as the Government.
I shall refer to Counsel for the Respondent as Counsel for the Company and shall refer to the Respondent
as the Company. It is noted that in the parties partial stipulation of facts, set forth elsewhere here, the
Company is referred to as the Respondent.
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30–2013–0063857-CU-OE-CXC in Superior Court of California, County of Orange.
The Government alleges, that by the conduct just described, the Company has been interfering
with, restraining, and coercing employees in the exercise of their rights guaranteed in Section 7
of the National Labor Relations Act (the Act) and is in violation of Section (8)(a)(1) of the Act.
5
In essence this is another case raising issues concerning arbitration policies that effect
collective bargaining and representational rights related to D. R. Horton, Inc., 357 NLRB No.
184 (2012), enf. denied in pertinent part 737 F.3d 344 (2013).
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The Company, in its answer to the complaint, and at trial, denies having violated the
Act in any manner alleged in the complaint.
The parties were given full opportunity to participate, to introduce relevant evidence, to
examine and cross-examine witnesses, and to file briefs. I carefully observed the demeanor of
the two witnesses as they testified and I rely on those observations here. I have studied the
whole record including the parties partial stipulated facts, and based on the detailed findings
and analysis below, I conclude and find the Company violated the Act essentially as alleged in
the complaint.
Findings of Fact
The parties, on December 16, 2013, executed a partial stipulation of facts which
contained a joint petition, to the court that in order to effectuate the purposes of the Act and
avoid unnecessary costs and delay, and pursuant to Section 102.35(a)(9) of the Board’s Rules
and Regulations, that I decide this case partially on the stipulation. I accepted the partial
stipulation of facts as a record exhibit and rely on the facts set forth therein. The stipulated
facts are:
1.
All parties agree that the charge, the Complaint, the Amended Complaint
and Notice of Hearing, the Answer to the Complaint, the Answer to the Amended
Complaint and this Partial Stipulation of Facts, along with attached exhibits
described herein, constitute most of the record in this case and that the balance of
the record will be created at the hearing currently scheduled for December 16,
2013.
2.
Upon a charge filed by Papke on June 13, 2013, and served on Respondent
by regular mail on June 14, 2013, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 1(a), and
receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by Respondent, and upon an amended
charge filed by Papke on August 14, 2013, and served on Respondent by regular
mail on August 16, 2013, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 1(b), and receipt
of which is hereby acknowledged by Respondent, the Acting General Counsel of
the Board, by the Regional Director for Region 21, acting pursuant to the
authority granted in Section 10(b) of the act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 151,
et seq., and Section 102.15 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations, issued a
Complaint and Notice of Hearing against Respondent on August 30, 2013, and the
General Counsel of the Board, by the Region Director for Region 21, pursuant to
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the same authority issued an Amended Complaint and Notice of Hearing against
Respondent on December 9, 2013, copies of which are attached as Exhibits 2(a)
and 2(b). True copies of the Complaint and Notice of Hearing were duly served
by certified mail upon Respondent and Papke on August 30, 2013. True copies of
the Amended Complaint and Notice of Hearing were duly served by certified mail
upon Respondent and Papke on December 9, 2013. An Answer to the Complaint,
which was filed on September 13, 2013 was duly served on the Regional Director
for Region 21 and Papke September 13, 2013. An Answer to the Complaint shall
be filed and served prior to the December 16, 2013, hearing in this matter. Copies
of the Answers are attached as Exhibits 3(a) and 3(b).
3.
At all material times, Respondent has been a California corporation with
an office and place of business in Irvine, California, where it has been engaged in
the business of home loans.
4.
Annually Respondent, in conducting its operations described above in
paragraph 3, derives gross revenues in excess of $500,000, and performs services
valued in excess of $50,000 in states other than the State of California.
5.
At all material times, Respondent has been an employer engaged in
commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6) and (7) of the Act.
6.
About October 25, 2011, Papke signed an Employee Acknowledgement
and Agreement (Agreement), a true copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.
7.
About March 18, 2013, Papke filed a class-action complaint in the Orange
County Superior Court in the case Erik Papke v. Network Capital Funding Corp.,
Civil Case No. 30-2013-00638-457-CU-OE-CXC-alleging, inter alia, various
violations of the California Labor Code. A true copy of this complaint is attached
hereto as Exhibit 5.
8.
About June 11, 2013, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration on
an Individual Basis, Strike the Class Allegations and Stay the Proceedings
Pending Arbitration of Papke’s suit described above at paragraph 7. A true copy
of this motion, and the supporting Memorandum of Points and Authorities and
declarations are attached hereto as Exhibit 6.
9.
About June 19, 2013, Papke voluntarily filed a request for dismissal of the
complaint described above in paragraph 7. That same day the complaint was
dismissed. A copy of the request for dismissal and the order dismissing the
complaint are attached as Exhibit 7.
10.
About June 20, 2013, Papke filed a Demand for Arbitration Before JAMS
of a class-action arbitration for various violations of the California Labor Code.
Attached to the Demand was a class-action complaint nearly identical to the
complaint filed in Orange County Superior Court that is described above in
paragraph 7. A true copy of this arbitration demand and complaint are attached
hereto as Exhibit 8.
11.
About June 28, 2013, Respondent filed a Complaint for Declaratory and
Injunctive Relief in the Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 30-201300659735 requesting that the Court decide that Papke’s claims should proceed to
arbitration on an individual basis, and not as a class action. A true copy of this
complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit 9.
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12.
On October 10, 2013, the court granted Respondent’s Motion for a
Preliminary Injunction finding that Respondent cannot be forced to arbitrate the
class action and that Papke’s claims must proceed on an individual basis. A true
copy of the court’s order is attached as Exhibit 10.
13.
On October 17, 2013, Papke appealed the court’s October 10, 2013, order.
The Notice of Appeal is attached as Exhibit 11.
14.
General Counsel and Papke take the position that Respondent required
Papke to sign the Agreement described above in paragraph 6 as a condition of his
employment and that Respondent’s enforcement of the Agreement requiring
employees to arbitrate on an individual basis alleged violations of the California
Labor Code precludes employees from engaging in conduct protected by Section
7 of the Act. Respondent takes the position that Papke was not required to sign
the Agreement as a condition of his employment and that enforcement of the
Agreement is not unlawful.
15.
This Partial stipulation of Facts is made without prejudice to any objection
that any party may have as to the materiality or relevance of any facts stated
herein.
The Agreement Charging Party Papke executed on October 25, 2011 and which is
referenced in and attached to the parties Partial Stipulation of Facts follows:
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
AND AGREEMENT
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This will acknowledge that I have received my copy of the Network
Capital Funding Corporation Employee Handbook and that I will familiarize
myself with its contents.
I understand that this handbook represents the current policies,
regulations, and benefits of the Company. However, the Company retains the
right to prospectively add, change, delete or modify policies, benefits, wages, and
all other working conditions at any time (except as expressly set forth in the
Employee Handbook and except for the policy of “at-will-employment” and the
Arbitration Agreement below, which may not be changed, altered, revised or
modified without a written agreement signed by both myself and the C.E.O. of the
Company).
I further understand that nothing in the Employee Handbook creates or is
intended to create a promise or representation of continued employment and that
my employment, position, and compensation at the Company are at-will, and may
be changed or terminated at the will of the Company. I understand that I have the
right to terminate my employment at any time, with or without cause or notice,
and that the Company has a similar right. My signature below certifies that I
understand the foregoing agreement that at-will status is the sole and entire
agreement between the Company and myself concerning the duration of my
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It supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, and
representations (whether written or oral) concerning my employment with the
Company.
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I further agree and acknowledge that the Company and I will utilize
binding arbitration to resolve all disputes that may arise out of or be related to my
employment in any way. Both the Company and I agree that any claim, dispute,
and/or controversy that either I may have against the Company (or its owners,
directors, officers, managers, employees, agents), or the Company may have
against me, shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding
arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, inconformity with the procedures of
the California Arbitration Act (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. sec 1280 et seq., including
section 1283.05 and all of the Act’s other mandatory and permissive rights to
discovery). Included within the scope of this Agreement are all disputes, whether
based on tort, contract, statute (including, but not limited to, any claims of
discrimination and harassment, whether they be based on the California Fair
Employment and Housing Act, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, or any other state or federal law or regulation), equitable law, or
otherwise. The only exception to the requirement of binding arbitration shall be
for claims arising under the National Labor Relations Act which are brought
before the National Labor Relations Board, claims for medical and disability
benefits under the California Workers; Compensation Act, Employment
Development Department claims, or as may otherwise be required by state or
federal law. However, nothing herein shall prevent me from filing and pursing
proceedings before the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing,
or the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (although if I
choose to pursue a claim following the exhaustion of such administrative
remedies, that claim would be subject to the provisions of this Agreement).
Further, this Agreement shall not prevent either me or the Company from
obtaining provisional remedies to the extent permitted by Code of Civil Procedure
Section 1281.8 either before the commencement of or during the arbitration
process. In addition to any other requirements imposed by law, the arbitrator
selected shall be a retired California Superior Court Judge, or otherwise qualified
individual to whom the parties mutually agree, and shall be subject to
disqualification on the same grounds as would apply to a judge of such court. All
rules of pleading (including the right of demurrer), all rules of evidence, all rights
to resolution of the dispute by means of motions for summary judgment,
judgment on the pleadings, and judgment under Code of Civil Procedure Section
631.8 shall apply and be observed. Resolution of the dispute shall be based solely
upon the law governing the claims and defenses pleaded, and the arbitrator may
not invoke any basis (including but not limited to, motions of “just cause”) other
than such controlling law. The arbitrator shall have the immunity of a judicial
officer from civil liability when acting in the capacity of an arbitrator, which
immunity supplements any other existing immunity. Likewise, all
communications during or in connection with the arbitration proceedings are
5
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privileged in accordance with Cal. Civil Code Section 47(b). As reasonably
required to allow full use and benefit of this agreement’s modifications to the
Act’s procedures, the arbitrator shall extend the times set by the Act for the giving
of notices and setting of hearings. Awards shall include the arbitrator’s written
reasoned opinion. I understand and agree to this binding arbitration provision,
and both I and the Company give up our right to trial by jury of any claim I or the
Company may have against each other.

5

This is the entire agreement between the Company and me regarding
dispute resolution, the length of my employment, and the reasons for termination
of employment, and this agreement supersedes any and all prior agreements
regarding these issues. It is further agreed and understood that any agreement
contrary to the foregoing must be entered into, in writing, by myself and the
C.E.O. of the Company. No supervisor or representative of the Company, other
than its C.E.O., has any authority to enter into any agreement for employment for
any specified period of time or make any agreement contrary to the foregoing.
Oral representations made before or after you are hired do not alter this
Agreement.
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If any term or provision, or portion of this Agreement is declared void or
unenforceable it shall be severed and the remainder of this Agreement shall be
enforceable.
MY SIGNATURE BELOW ATTESTS TO THE FACT THAT I HAVE
READ, UNDERSTAND, AND AGREE TO BE LEGALLY BOUND TO ALL
OF THE ABOVE TERMS.

25

DO NOT SIGN UNTIL YOU HAVE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT.

READ

THE

ABOVE

30
/S/ Erik Papke
Print Full Name
/S/ Erik Papke
Signature

35

10/25/11
Date
40

[RETAIN IN EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL FILE]
The Government and Company each called a witness to expand upon the stipulated
facts.

45

The Government called Charging Party Papke who testified he attended an orientation
meeting at the Company on October 25, 2011, along with eight or so others seeking
6
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employment as loan officers. The meeting was conducted by Company Trainer Steve Azizi
(Azizi). Papke described the orientation; “There was a general overview and presentation of
the underwriting system and just various–couple different systems the Company used for
managing the loans and leads, and then at the conclusion we were given [by Azizi] paperwork
to sign.” Included in the paper work were W-4, I-9 forms as well as a receipt for the Employee
Handbook. According to Papke, Azizi told them they were “to complete the paper work and
turn it back in,” but said nothing else. Papke, and the others, completed the paperwork, turned
it in, but, were not provided copies of what they had just signed. Papke stated Azizi made no
mention of employees having a choice on whether to sign the forms; or, that the Company was
ready and willing to negotiate the content and terms of any forms just signed; nor, was anything
said about a willingness to add or subtract any part of the forms. Papke did not ask to negotiate
about, add or delete, anything from or to the forms. Papke said Azizi did not ask if he had any
questions about the forms nor did he or the others ask any questions.
Papke acknowledged signing the Agreement on October 25, 2011, and beginning work
at the Company on January 3, 2012, as a loan officer/mortgage loan originator. Papke
explained he, and the other 404 or so loan officers, accepted residential loan applications,
qualified potential borrowers and presented borrows with loan options and interest rates for
their considerations.

20
Loan officers are paid on commission. Papke said he was in the top 10 percent fairly
consistently. Papke resigned his employment on March 11, 2013, because the “work
environment was not enjoyable, and the compensation had dropped considerably.” Papke
explained, “when my commission was reduced greatly . . . I pursued other opportunities.”
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On March 18, 2013, Papke filed his class action lawsuit in the Orange County Superior
Court, Erik Papke v. Network Capital funding Corp., alleging various violations of the
California Labor Code. Papke acknowledged that after the Company, on June 13, 2013, filed a
response to his lawsuit, in which the Company sought to compel Papke and others to arbitrate
their claims on an individual basis, Papke voluntarily moved to dismiss his March 18, 2013
lawsuit. However, on June 20, 2013, Papke filed a demand for arbitration before JAMS as a
class action arbitration regarding various alleged violations of the California Labor Code.
Further related actions of the parties are fully set forth elsewhere here in the parties
partial stipulation of facts and will not be repeated here.
Charging Party Papke, acknowledged on cross-examination, he never objected to
signing the Agreement and first read the Agreement when it came to his attention, after he left
his employment, that there was an agreement to arbitrate. Papke testified he did not know or
realize that anything on the Agreement was optional and did not seek to negotiate any terms of
the Agreement. Papke testified, on cross-examination, he never complained to the Company he
believed his rights under the Board, or protected concerted activity, were being denied by the
Company.

4

The number of loan officers eventually grew to approximately 100.
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Human Resources Manager Christopher Bales (Manager Bales or Bales), who assumed
his duties with the Company mid-October 2012, testified he is involved in the recruitment
process including day-to-day duties such as hiring, reviewing employees’ performance, and,
when necessary terminations. Bales is involved with new hire orientations. All employees are
provided a copy of the employee handbook orientation which handbook according to Bales,
was redone in June 2013.
The new handbook, with the revised Employment
Acknowledgement and Agreement, utilized since June 2013, states in pertinent part as follows:
I and the Company agree to utilize binding arbitration as the sole and exclusive
means to resolve all disputes that may arise out of or be related in any way to my
employment, including but not limited to the termination of my employment and
my compensation. I and the Company each specifically waive and relinquish our
respective rights to bring a claim against the other in a court of law, and this
waiver shall be equally binding on any person who represents or seeks to
represent me or the Company in a lawsuit against the other in a court of law.
Both I and the Company agree that any claim, dispute, and/or controversy that I
may have against the Company (or its owners, directors, officers, managers,
employees, or agents), or the Company may have against me, shall be submitted
to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration under the Federal Arbitration
Act…. The only exception to the requirement of binding arbitration shall be for
claims arising under the National Labor Relations Board, claims for medical and
disability benefits under the California Workers’ Compensation Act, Employment
Development Department claims, or as may otherwise be required by state or
federal law…

25

35

Bales testified no employee ever refused to sign the Agreement. Bales testified
Charging Party Papke never complained to him (Bales) at any time after he (Bales) became
employed at the Company about the Agreement. Bales testified that while Papke was
employed, the Company had no written or unwritten policy indicating that signing the
Agreement was a condition of employment or that anyone refusing to sign the Agreement
would not suffer any adverse employment action. Bales acknowledged no employees were told
they did not have to sign the Agreement; nor, were they told there would be no adverse
consequences if they refused to sign the Agreement.
Bales testified that at orientation
employees were not told they had to sign the documents. Papke was never asked to sign the
2013 revised Agreement.

40

I turn to the issue of whether signing the Agreement was a mandatory condition of
employment. Counsel for the Government stated during her opening at trial and asserts in her
post trial brief that the Company required Papke, on October 25, 2011, to execute, and accept,
the Agreement as a condition of his employment.

30

The Company, contended at trial, and in its post trial brief, there is nothing in the
Company’s hiring process that required Papke or any employee to sign the Agreement at any
time, nor, is an employee prohibited from negotiating new or different terms of the Agreement.
45
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Counsel for the Company notes a complete absence of evidence Papke ever complained about
or objected to the Agreement and no showing he sought to negotiate new or different terms for
the Agreement or to not sign the Agreement at all.
5
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I find signing the Agreement was a condition of employment for Charging Party Papke
and other employees. The facts establish Papke and others were presented a number of forms
at the orientation held on October 25, 2011. Papke credibly testified company trainer Azizi,
after giving the employees an overview of upcoming work, gave them W-4 and I-9 forms, as
well as the employee handbook, which contained the two- page single spaced Agreement “to
sign” and turn in to him. Papke credibly testified Azizi did not tell he or the others they had a
choice to sign, or not sign, the forms, including the Agreement, nor, did Azizi say anything
about a willingness on the part of the Company to negotiate individually with the employees
the terms or language of the Agreement. Papke did not realize any portion of the Agreement
was optional or negotiable.
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The Company placed trainer Azizi, at orientation, in a position from which employees
could reasonably assume he spoke for the Company. Azizi gave the forms, including the
Agreement, to the employees to complete, sign and turn in to him (Azizi) and that is exactly
what Papke and the others did. Papke, and the others, were never informed that any of the
documents, specifically the Agreement, were voluntary, optional or that employees could, on
an individual basis, negotiate different Agreement terms or simply decline to sign the forms at
all.
It is unreasonable to conclude from the facts here, and I do not, that if any employee did
not wish to sign the Agreement, he or she, could simply ask for the human resources director,
or other representatives from that department, to negotiate new or different terms for the
Agreement acceptable to each employee. Having individual employees negotiate terms and
language of the Agreement could have resulted in possibly eight separate individual agreements
between the Company and employees simply from those attending the October 25, 2011
orientation meeting. As loan officer numbers grew to approximately 100 there could then have
been 100 separately negotiated Agreements. I find the Company cannot successfully contend
signing the orientation forms were voluntary or negotiable based on the fact no employee
sought, on an individual basis or otherwise, to negotiate different terms for the Agreement.
Likewise, the Company cannot persuasively contend the orientation forms were voluntary,
specifically the Agreement, based on the fact no employee complained about or sought to
negotiate new or different terms with the human resources department during orientation. The
fact Papke never read the Agreement before he signed it does not require a finding the
Agreement was voluntary. Additionally, the fact Papke did not read the Agreement until after
he had resigned his employment with the Company does not somehow cause his signing the
Agreement to be voluntary. The Company never advised Papke, or the others, verbally or in
writing, they did not have to sign the Agreement nor were the employees told there would be
no adverse consequences if they refused to sign the orientation forms, specifically the
Agreement. The fact Papke never complained about having to sign the Agreement, perhaps,
only reflects he accepted the reality that if he wished to work for the Company he needed to
sign the Agreement and other forms. The fact no employee has ever refused to sign the
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to do so. The Company failed to demonstrate or establish signing the forms, including the
Agreement, was voluntary on the part of the employees.
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In summary on this issue, I am fully persuaded signing the Agreement was a term and
condition of employment Papke, and the others, needed to accomplish in order to be employed
at the Company.
I next turn to the issue of whether the allegations of the complaint are time-barred. The
Company contends the entire complaint should be dismissed because it is time-barred by
Section 10(b) of the Act in that the complaint is based on events that occurred outside the
applicable limitations period. Section 10(b) of the Act in part provides “…no complaint shall
issue based upon any unfair labor practice occurring more than six months prior to the filing of
the charges with the Board . . . ” It is undisputed Charging Party Papke signed the Agreement,
at issue here, on October 25, 2011, well outside the 10(b) period. As noted elsewhere here the
original charge was filed on June 13, 2013. It is alleged the Company, since about December
14, 2012, has maintained the Agreement, as a condition of employment, requiring its
employees to utilize binding arbitration to resolve all disputes that may arise out of or be
related to their employment. This allegation is within the 10(b) limitations period but, is it
inescapably grounded in pre-10(b) events? It is not. The Company’s June 11, 2013 filing of its
Motion to Compel Arbitration on an Individual Basis, Strike the Class Allegations, and, Stay
the Proceeding Pending Arbitration of Papke’s suit, Erik Papke v. Network Capital Funding, is
clearly with the 10(b) limitation period. This enforcement action by the Company, based on
Papke’s signed Agreement, took place only 2 days before the charge here was filed. This
action, by the Company, demonstrates it was enforcing the Agreement within the applicable
time period.
On June 19, 2013, Papke voluntarily filed a request for dismissal of his March 18, 2013
class action lawsuit and the next day, June 20, 2013, filed a demand for arbitration before
JAMS as a class action arbitration which was nearly identical to his court filed class action. The
Company on June 28, 2013, sought to enforce Papke’s October 25, 2011 signed Agreement,
when it filed its complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief with the Orange County
Superior Court requesting the Court decide that Papke’s claims should proceed to arbitration
only on an individual basis, and not as a class action. On October 10, 2013, the Court granted
the Company’s motion for a preliminary injunction finding the Company could not be forced to
arbitrate on a class action basis but that Papke’s claims must proceed on an individual basis.
I find the Company’s 10(b) defense without merit. While it is clear Papke signed the
Agreement on October 25, 2011, well outside the 10(b) period, the Company continued to
maintain and enforce the Agreement well into the 10(b) period. The Government’s allegation
the Company has, since December 14, 2012, a time within the 10(b) period, continued to
maintain the Agreement is established. The Company’s motion filing on June 11, 2013, a time
clearly within the 10(b) period, was grounded on Papke signed Agreement in which he agreed
to arbitration on an individual basis. After Papke, on June 20, 2013, filed his demand for
arbitration before JAMS, the Company, made responsive filings on June 28, 2013 seeking

10

JD(ATL)–09–14

5

10

injunctive relief contending, in part, Papke’s signed Agreement committed him to proceed on
an individual basis and not as a class action arbitration. Again the Company continued to
maintained and enforced the Agreement Papke signed on October 25, 2011, as a defense in his
suit for class arbitration. In these circumstances, the date Papke signed the Agreement is not
controlling or relevant. What is controlling and relevant is the Company continued to maintain
and enforce Papke’s Agreement within the 10(b) period. By continuing to maintain and
enforce the Agreement within the 10(b) period establishes the conduct and action by the
Company is not inescapably grounded in pre-10(b) events. The Board, in Lafayette Park Hotel,
326 NLRB 824 (1998), held an employer commits a continuing violation of Section 8(a)(1) of
the Act throughout the period an unlawful rule, is maintained. Furthermore, the Board has held
that where an employer, as here, enforces an unlawful rule during the 10(b) period it violates
Section 8(a) (1) of the Act. Such is a continuing violation, see: Teamsters Local 293 (R. L.
Lipton Distributing) 311 NLRB 538, 539 (1993). The continuing violation I find here
precludes the Company from a valid 10(b) type defense.
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Neither Papke’s voluntarily filing his June 19, 2013, request to dismiss his class action
lawsuit, or the fact he appealed the Superior Court’s granting the Company a preliminary
injunction forcing arbitration on an individual basis, does not require a different result than I
reach here. The fact Papke obtained dismissal of his class action lawsuit and filed a class
action arbitration does not somehow serve as a wavier of any rights afforded to him. In
summary, the Company’s 10(b) defense is without merit.
The Company, in its post trial brief contends D. R. Horton, supra, is invalid because it
was not decided by a quorum of at least three Board Members pursuant to 29 U.S.C. Section
153(b) and thus unconstitutional; citing Noel Canning v. NLRB 705 F. 3d 490 (D.C. Cir. 2013),
cert. granted 133 S.Ct. 2861 (June 24, 2013) and NLRB v. New Vista Nursing & Rehabilitation,
719 F.3d 203, 218-221 (3d Cir. 2013). The Company notes Member Craig Becker was found
to have been unlawfully appointed to the Board. The Company thus contends neither the Board
as a whole, nor the delegated group that considered the D. R. Horton matter, satisfied the
quorum requirements at the time the Board issued its decision. The Company notes that
whenever the Board acts without a quorum or jurisdiction, its actions are invalid and
unenforceable and the D. R. Horton decision is no longer controlling precedent. The Board has
rejected similar contentions in numerous cases, see, e.g., Bloomingdale’s Inc., 359 NLRB No.
113 (2013).

35
Furthermore, I note the Board now has a full complement of five members nominated
by the President and confirmed by the Senate and could, if they deemed appropriate, reaffirm
the earlier Board’s actions. Consistent with Board precedent, I reject the Company’s Noel
Canning, supra, and New Vista Nursing, supra, defense.
40
The controlling issue here is whether the Company’s Agreement (original and revised)
contains restrictive provisions that violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.
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The complaint alleges that since about December 14, 2012, the Company has
maintained an Agreement for its employees which contains provisions that require employees
to utilize binding arbitration to resolve all disputes that may arise out of or be related to their
employment. Additionally, it is alleged that since June 11, 2013, the Company has sought to
enforce the Agreement by filing a Motion to Compel Arbitration on an Individual Basis in a
class action complaint filed against the Company by Charging Party Papke on March 18, 2013,
in the case of Erik Papke v. Network Capital Funding Corp., Case No. 30-2013-0063857-CVOE-CXC in Superior Court of California, County of Orange.
In evaluating whether a rule applied to all employees, as a condition of continued
employment, including the mandatory Agreement (original and revised) at issue here, violates
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, the Board, as noted in D. R. Horton Inc., at 4–6, applies its test set
forth in Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB 646 (2004), citing U–Haul Co. of
California, 347 NLRB 375, 377 (2006), enfd. 255 Fed. Appx. 527 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Pursuant
to Lutheran Heritage the inquiry, or test to be applied, is whether the rule explicitly restricts
activities protected by Section 7 of the Act. If so, the rule is unlawful. If it does not explicitly
restrict protected activity, the finding of a violation is dependent upon a showing of one of the
following: (1) employees would reasonably construe the rule to prohibit Section 7 activity; (2)
the rule was promulgated in response to union activity; or, (3) the rule has been applied to
restrict the exercise of Section 7 rights.
While the Agreement here may not explicitly restrict protected activity, I am, however,
fully persuaded, as explained below, a reasonable employee would, after the Company’s
responses to collective class, legal, or arbitration type actions, conclude the Agreement restricts
employees ability to resolve, in concert, employment disputes protected by Section 7 of the
Act.
Following the guidance set forth above, I now address whether the Agreement (original
and revised), interferes with and restricts employees’ from engaging in protected concerted
conduct. Before doing so, however, I note two important findings by the Board in D. R.
Horton, Inc. supra, namely, at slip op. 13 that an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act
“by requiring employees to waive their right to collectively pursue employment-related claims
in all forms, arbitral and judicial,” and at slip op. 10, “The right to engage in collective actionincluding legal action-is the core substantive right protected by the NLRA and is the foundation
on which the Act and Federal Labor policy rest.”
Looking now at certain provisions of the Agreement it states in part; “I further agree
and acknowledge that the Company and I will utilize binding arbitration to resolve all disputes
that may arise out of or be related to my employment in any way. Both the Company and I
agree that any claim dispute, and/or controversy that either I may have against the Company .
. . or the Company may have against me, shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by
binding arbitration . . .” Portions of the Agreement also continue; “I understand and agree to
this binding arbitration provision, and both I and the Company give up our right to trial by jury
of any claim I or the Company may have against each other.” The Company by its actions
clearly sought to have all employment related disputes raised by Papke resolved on an
individual basis rather than as a collective action. In that regard the evidence establishes the
12
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Company sought to end Papke’s March 18, 2013 collective court action when on June 11,
2013, it asked the court to end the class action and only allow the matter to advance on an
individual basis in arbitration.. After Papke obtained a dismissal of his lawsuit, and filed a
demand for class arbitration the Company filed a complaint for declaratory relief requesting
Papke’s class arbitration action be allowed to proceed only on an individual basis and not as a
class action. The court granted the Company’s request holding the Company could not be
forced to a class action arbitration but proceed on an individual basis only. I find the
Agreement, as enforced by the Company, to be unlawful because it prohibits its employees
from exercising their Section 7 right to engage in concerted activity, which is a substantive
right. Stated differently, the Company’s enforcement of the Agreement prohibits employees
form exercising their statutory right to engage in collective action regarding terms and
conditions of their employment. There is nothing illegal or unlawful in requiring, by
agreement, that employees’ work related claims be submitted to final and binding arbitration
but rather the illegality is established when it is required that all work related claims be
arbitrated individually. I am not unmindful, the Agreement is silent on the issue of allowing
class resolution of any claims subject to the Agreement, however, it is clear from the position
and intent of the Company that Papke, and others, by signing the Agreement, agreed to arbitrate
all disputes relating to employment exclusively on an individual basis.
In summary, the Agreement, as enforced, clearly inhibits and interferes with employees’
Section 7 rights in that it requires employees to waive their right to engage in concerted activity
for mutual aid and protection by prohibiting class or collective action in any forum.
The Company asks that I reject the Board’s substantive analysis in D. R. Horton supra.
In that regard the Company notes that three Federal Circuit Courts of Appeals, namely, Owen v.
Bristol Care Inc., 702 F.3d 1050, 1052–1055 (8th Cir. 2013); Richards v. Ernest & Young 734
F.3d 871, 873–874 (9th Cir. 2013), and, the direct appeal of D. R. Horton; D. R. Horton v.
NLRB 737 F.3d 344 (5th Cir. 2013), have reviewed the Board’s D. R. Horton decision, and all
three have rejected the Board’s substantive analysis. I, however, am bound by Board precedent
unless and until the Supreme Court or the Board directs otherwise. Iowa Beef Packers, Inc.,
144 NLRB 615, 616 (1963). Neither has done so thus D. R. Horton is the applicable law here
that I follow.
I find it appropriate to respond to other challenges the Company raises to D. R. Horton
supra and I specifically reject such challenges. First, the Company challenges D. R. Horton,
supra, because it is premised, in large part, on the Board’s finding the Act provides employees
an unwaivable substantive right to collective action or litigation. The Company contends the
Supreme Court in AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. 1740, 1749 (2011, held the
right to exercise class procedures is in fact waivable.

40
The Board in D. R. Horton considered the Supreme Court’s holding in AT&T Mobility
LLC and concluded that decision does not require a conclusion different from its holdings in D.
R. Horton. Accordingly, I follow the Board’s rational as set forth in D. R. Horton and
explained below;
45
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A policy associated with the FAA and arguable in tension with the policies of the
NLRA was explained by the Supreme Court in AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion,
supra at 1748: The “overarching purpose of the FAA…is to ensure the
enforcement of arbitration agreements according to their terms so as to facilitate
streamlined proceedings.” The “switch form bilateral to class arbitration,” the
Court stated, “sacrifices the principal advantage of arbitration–its informality.” Id.
At 1750. But the weight of this countervailing consideration was considerably
greater in the context of AT&T Mobility than it is here for several reasons. AT&T
Mobility involved the claim that a class-action waiver in an arbitration clause of
any contract of adhesion in the State of California was unconscionable. Here, in
contrast, only agreements between employers and their own employees are at
stake. As the Court pointed out in AT&T Mobility, such contracts of adhesion in
the retail and services industries might cover “tens of thousands of potential
claimants.” Id. At 1752. The average number of employees employed by a single
employer, in contrast, is 20, [footnote omitted] and most class-wide employment
litigation, like the case at issue here, involves only a specific subset of an
employer’s employees. A class-wide arbitration is thus far less cumbersome and
more akin to an individual arbitration proceeding along each of the dimensions
considered by the Court in AT&T Mobility–speed, cost, informality, and risk–
when the class is so limited in size. 131 S.Ct. at 1751-1752. Moreover, the
holding in this case covers only one type of contract, that between an employer
and its covered employees, in contrast to the broad rule adopted by the California
Supreme Court at issue in AT&T Mobility. Accordingly, any intrusion on the
policies underlying the FAA is similarly limited.

25

30

Thus, whether we consider the policies underlying the two statues as part
of the balancing test required to determine if a term of a contract is against public
policy and thus properly considered invalid under Section 2 of the FAA, or a part
of the accommodation analysis required by Southern Steamship, Morton, and
other Supreme Court precedent, our conclusion is the same: holding that an
employer violates the NLRA by requiring employees, as a condition of
employment, to waive their right to pursue collective legal redress in both judicial
and arbitral forums accommodates the policies underlying both the NLRA and the
FAA to the greatest extent possible.

35
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Next, the Company notes that in CompuCredit Corp. v. Greenwood, 132 S.Ct. 665, 669
(2012), the Supreme Court held the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) requires governing bodies to
enforce arbitration agreements according to their terms, even if the claims at issue are Federal
statutory claims, absent “a contrary congressional command.” The Company here argues such
a “command” does not exist in the NLRA and the Board has no authority to find the arbitration
agreement here invalid.
CompuCredit Corp. v. Greenwood, supra, involved actions brought by consumers
against the marketer of credit cards and the issuing bank alleging fees that were charged in
connection with the credit cards violated the Federal Credit Repair Organization Act (CROA).
The Court held that CROA provisions requiring credit repair organizations to disclose to
14
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consumers their right to sue for violations of CROA and prohibiting waiver of that right did not
preclude enforcement of an arbitration agreement the parties had executed. The Supreme Court
concluded the FAA required the parties’ arbitration agreement to be enforced according to its
terms. The Supreme Court specifically concluded that even when the claims at issue are
Federal statutory claims, the FAA’s mandate cannot be overridden unless “overridden by a
contrary congressional command.” The Company’s defense based on CompuCredit Corp fails.
CompuCredit Corp, in part, addresses consumer rights involving credit cards and fees related
thereto, and has nothing to do with unilaterally imposed arbitration agreements in the context of
employee-employer relationships. The case does not discuss how, if at all, the FAA may be
applied to alter, by private arbitration agreements, the core substantive rights protected by the
NLRA which are the foundation on which the NLRA and all Federal labor law rests, D. R.
Horton, supra. Simply stated, an arbitration agreement that prospectively prohibits all class,
collective and joint efforts by employees to obtain relief or redress for employment related
concerns inhibits concerted activity protected by Section 7 of the Act, and violates Section
8(a)(1) of the Act.
Finally, I address the Company’s contention the authority to prosecute class actions is
not provided by the NLRA, but rather by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23, and the
collective action procedures of substantive labor laws. The Company notes that in Deposit
Guaranty National Bank v. Roper 100 S.Ct. 1166 (1980), the Supreme Court held class action
certification is a procedural right only, that is ancillary to the litigation of substantive claims
and the Company contends that since it is a procedural right it is waivable. The Board
addressed this issue in D. R. Horton, supra at slip Op. 10, and I am bound by the Board’s
conclusions. The Board’s rational, binding here, in part states; “Any contention that the
Section 7 right to bring a class or collective action is merely ‘procedural’ must fail.” The
Board continued, “The right to engage in collective action–including collective legal action–is
the core substantive right protected by the NLRA . . .” The Board further noted, “Whether a
class is certified depends on whether the requisites for certification under Rule 23 have been
met.” The Board considered the issue to be whether an employer may lawfully condition
employment on employees’ waiving their right under the NLRA to take the collective action
inherent in seeking class certification, whether or not they are ultimately successful under Rule
23. The Board held, Rule 23 may be a procedural rule, but the Section 7 right to act
concertedly by invoking Rule 23, Section 216(b), or other legal procedures is not.
Simply stated the Company’s contention that the authority to prosecute class actions
under the NLRA may be waived has been rejected by the Board and binding here.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
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1.
The Company, Network Capital Funding Corporation, Irving, California is, and
has been, an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the
Act.
2.
By maintaining a mandatory arbitration agreement, that waives the right of its
employees to maintain class of collective actions in all forums, judicial or arbitral, the
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Company has engaged in unfair labor practices affecting commerce within the meaning of
Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act and violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.
5

3.
By enforcing the mandatory arbitration agreement on June 11, 2013, by
asserting the provisions in litigation brought against the Company in Erik Papke v. Network
Capital Funding Corp., Case No. 30-2013-0063857-CU-OE-CXC the Company engaged in
unfair labor practices affecting commerce within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act
and violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.
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REMEDY
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Having found the Company has engaged in certain unfair labor practices, I shall
recommend it cease and desist there from and take certain affirmative action designated to
effectuate the policies of the Act.
I recommend the Company be ordered to rescind, modify or revise its Agreement to
clearly inform its employees the agreement does not constitute a waiver in all forums of their
right to maintain employment-related class or collective actions and notify its employees the
Agreement has been rescinded, modified or revised and provide a copy of any modified or
revised Agreement to all employees.
I recommend the Company be required to reimburse Charging Party Papke for any
litigation and related expenses, with interest, todate and in the future, directly related to the
Company’s filings related to Erik Papke v. Network Capital Funding Corporation et al. in the
Superior Court of California, Orange County. Determining the applicable rate of interest on the
reimbursement will be as outlined in New Horizons for the Retarded, 283 NLRB 1173 (1987),
(adopting the Internal Revenue Service rate for underpayment of Federal taxes). Interest on all
amounts due to Charging Party Papke shall be computed on a daily bases as prescribed in
Kentucky River Medical Center, 356 NLRB 8 (2010). This remedy is specifically to include
any direct legal and other expenses incurred with respect to the Orange County Superior Court
Order directing Papke and others to pursue their arbitration claims on an individual basis. See
Federal Security, Inc., 359 NLRB No. 1, slip op. at 14 (2012).

35

I recommend the Company be required upon request, to file a joint motion with
Charging Party Papke to vacate the Orange County Superior Court Order compelling
arbitration on an individual basis which the Court issued on October 10, 2013. See Federal
Security Inc. supra.

40

I lack authority to direct the Orange County Superior Court to vacate its Order;
however, the Government has other venues in which it may seek such relief.
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On these findings of fact and conclusions of law and on the entire record, I issue the
following recommended5
ORDER
5
The Company, Network Capital Funding Corporation, Irvine, California, it officers,
agents, successors, and assigns, shall
1.

Cease and desist form

10
(a)
Maintaining a mandatory arbitration agreement, that waives employees’
right to maintain class or collective actions in all forums; whether arbitral or judicial.
15

(b)
Seeking to enforce such agreement by filings in any court to compel
individual arbitration pursuant to the terms of the any such agreement.
(c)
In any like or related manner, interfering with, restraining or coercing
employees in the exercise of their right under the Act.

20

2.

Take the following affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies of the

Act.
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(a)
Within 7 calendar days after the Board enters its Decision, and upon
request of Charging Party Papke, file with the Superior Court of California, Orange County, a
motion to vacate the Court’s order compelling arbitration on an individual basis issued by the
Court on October 10, 2013.
(b)
Reimburse Charging Party Papke for any legal and related expenses
incurred, todate and in the future, with respect to Erik Papke v. Network Capital Funding
Corporation et.al., with interest as described in the remedy section of this decision.
(c)
Rescind, modify or revise the Agreement to ensure its employees the
Agreement does not contain or constitute a waiver, in all forums, of their right to maintain
employment-related class or collective actions.

35
(d)
Notify its employees of the rescinded, modified or revised Agreement
and provide a copy of any modified or revised Agreement to each employee and notified each
employee the original Agreement has been removed from their personnel records and
destroyed.
40

5

If no exceptions are filed provided by Section 102.46 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations, the findings,
conclusions, and recommended Order shall, as provided in Section 201.48 of the Rules, be adopted by the
Board and all objections to them shall be deemed waived for all purposes.
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(e)
Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at its Irvine, California
facility, copies of the notice marked “Appendix.”6 Copies of the notice, on forms provided by
the Regional Director for Region 21, after being signed by the Company’s authorized
representative, shall be posted by the Company and maintained for 60 consecutive days in
conspicuous places including all places where notices to employees are customarily posted.
Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Company to ensure that the notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material. In addition to the physical posting of paper notices,
notices shall be distributed electronically, such as email, posting on an intranet or an internet
site, or other electronic means, if the Company customarily communicates with its employees
by such means. In the event that, during the pendency of these proceedings, the Company has
gone out of business or closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the Company shall
duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current employees and former
employees employed by the Company at any time since June 11, 2013.

15

Dated at Washington, D.C. March 5, 2014

20

__________________________________
William Nelson Cates
Administrative Law Judge

6

If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice reading
“Posted by Order of the National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judgment the
United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board.”
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APPENDIX
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government
The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has
ordered us to post and obey this notice.
FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO
Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf
Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.
WE WILL NOT maintain or enforce our Agreement that waives employees’ right to maintain
class or collective action in all forums, arbitral or judicial.
WE WILL NOT enforce, or attempt to enforce, any such agreement by filing petition(s) in any
court to compel you to individually arbitrate your work related concerns.
WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner, interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in
the exercise of their rights under the Act.
WE WILL within 7 days after the Board Order and upon request of Charging Party Papke file
a joint motion to vacate the Superior Court of California, Orange County, Order issued on
October 10, 2013, compelling arbitration on an individual basis.
WE WILL reimburse Charging Party Papke any reasonable legal and other expenses incurred
related to our various legal actions to compel arbitration on an individual basis, plus interest.
WE WILL rescind, modify or revise our Agreement to make clear to our employees our
Agreement does not constitute a waiver in all forums of your right to maintain employmentrelated class or collective actions.
WE WILL notify our employees we have rescinded, modified or revised our Agreement and
provide each a copy of any revised or modified Agreement.
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NETWORK CAPITAL
FUNDING CORPORATION
(Employer)
Dated: _________________

By __________________________________________
(Representative)
(Title)

The National Labor Relations Board is an independent Federal agency created in 1935 to enforce the
National Labor Relations Act. It conducts secret-ballot elections to determine whether employees want
union representation and it investigates and remedies unfair labor practices by employers and unions. To
find out more about your rights under the Act and how to file a charge or election petition, you may
speak confidentially to any agent with the Board’s Regional Office set forth below. You may also obtain
information from the Board’s website: www.nlrb.gov.
888 South Figueroa Street, 9th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90017-5449
(213) 894-5200, Hours: 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED BY ANYONE
THIS NOTICE MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR 60 CONSECUTIVE DAYS FROM THE DATE OF
POSTING AND MUST NOT BE ALTERED, DEFACED, OR COVERED BY ANY OTHER
MATERIAL. ANY QUESTIONS CONCERNING THIS NOTICE OR COMPLIANCE WITH ITS
PROVISIONS MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE ABOVE REGIONAL OFFICE’S
COMPLIANCE OFFICER, (213) 894-5184

